
 

Extraordinary 

(Informal Joint) 
Cabinet 

 

Title: Agenda  

Date: Tuesday 27 October 2015 

Time: 5.00 pm 
Open Forum 

At each Cabinet meeting, up to 15 minutes shall be allocated 
for questions from and discussion with, non-Cabinet members.  

Members wishing to speak during this session should if 
possible, give notice in advance.  Who speaks and for how long 
will be at the complete discretion of the person presiding. 

 5.00 pm (or at the conclusion of the Open Forum, whichever is the later) 

Public Participation 

Members of the public who live or work in the District are 
invited to put one question or statement of not more than three 

minutes duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of 
the agenda only.  If a question is asked and answered within 
three minutes, the person who asked the question may ask a 

supplementary question that arises from the reply. 
 

A person who wishes to speak must register at least 15 
minutes before the time the meeting is scheduled to start. 
 

There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking, 
which may be extended at the Chairman’s discretion. 

 5.15pm 
The formal meeting of the Cabinet will commence at 5.15 pm 

or immediately following the conclusion of the informal 
discussions, whichever is the later, in the Council Chamber. 

Venue: Council Chamber  
District Offices  
College Heath Road  

Mildenhall 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

  Page No 
 

Membership: Leader James Waters 

 Deputy Leader Robin Millar 

 Councillor Portfolio 

 David Bowman Operations 
 Stephen Edwards Resources and Performance 

 Andy Drummond Leisure and Culture 
 Robin Millar Families and Communities 
 James Waters Planning and Growth 

   

Interests – 

Declaration and 
Restriction on 

Participation: 

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 

disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 

item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 

disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

Quorum: Three Members 

Committee 

administrator: 

Sharon Turner 

FHDC Cabinet Officer/Committee Administrator 
Tel: 01638 719237 

Email: sharon.turner@westsuffolk.gov.uk 
 

 

 



 

 Agenda Page No 

  
Procedural Matters 

 

  

All Members of St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Cabinet will be 
in attendance to enable informal discussions on the report listed 
in Item 4.  below to take place between the two authorities: 

 
Councillor   Portfolio 

Robert Everitt  Families and Communities 
Sara Mildmay-White Housing (shared Lead Member with 
FHDC) 

John Griffiths  Leader 
Ian Houlder   Resources and Performance 

Alaric Pugh   Planning and Growth 
Jo Rayner   Leisure and Culture 
Peter Stevens  Operations 

 
QUORUM: Three Members 

 
On the conclusion of the informal joint discussions, the Cabinet 
will hold its formal meeting as follows: 
 

 

  

Part 1 - Public 
 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.   Open Forum  

 (This item will be undertaken at the beginning of the informal 
discussions, to allow Members to consider the issues raised by 

the non-Cabinet members) 
 

 

3.   Public Participation  

 (This item will be undertaken at the beginning of the informal 
discussions, to allow Members to consider the issues raised by 
the members of the public) 

 
(Following the informal discussions held with St 

Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Cabinet on Item 4. below, 
Members are reminded that no further debate shall take 

place.  However, Members are requested to formally 
resolve Item 4.) 

 
 
 
 

 



 
 

  Page No 
 

 NON KEY DECISIONS 
 

 

4.   Business Case to Establish a Housing Development 
Company 

1 - 48 

 Report No: CAB/FH/15/048  

 Lead Officer: Simon Phelan 

 
(For reference purposes, St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Report 

Number is CAB/SE/15/070) 

 

 

5.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 To consider whether the press and public should be excluded 
during the consideration of the following items because it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or 

the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were 
present during the items, there would be disclosure to them of 

exempt categories of information as prescribed in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and indicated 
against each item and, in all circumstances of the case, the public 

interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

 Part 2 - Exempt 
 

 

6.   Business Case to Establish a Housing Development 

Company - Exempt Appendices (para 3) 

49 - 118 

 Exempt Appendices B, C and D to Report No: CAB/FH/15/048 
Lead Officer: Simon Phelan 

 
(These exempt Appendices are to be considered in private under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 

as it contains information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 

that information) 
 
(No representations have been received from members of the 

public regarding this item being held in private) 
 

 



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

Extraordinary 
(Informal 

Joint) Cabinet    

Title of Report: Business Case to Establish a 
Housing Development 
Company 

Report No: CAB/FH/15/048 
 

Report to and 
dates: 

Extraordinary 
Cabinet 

27 October 2015 

Extraordinary 

Council 
17 November 2015 

Lead officer: Simon Phelan 
Head of Housing 

Tel: 01638 719440 
Email: simon.phelan@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Purpose of report: To present to Members the business case for 
establishing a commercial company limited by shares 

for the purpose of developing housing for sale and 
private rent, and affordable rent and low-cost home 

ownership in line with the Councils’ existing planning 
policies. The company would be wholly-owned by 
Forest Heath District Council (25% of shares), St 

Edmundsbury Borough Council (25%) and Suffolk 
County Council (50%) and will provide a revenue 

income to all Councils. 

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet approves: 

1. The establishment of a Housing Development 

Company incorporated as a company limited by 
shares that will be jointly owned by Suffolk County 
Council (50% of shares), Forest Heath District 

Council (25% of shares) and St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council (25% of shares). 

2. Forest Heath District Council’s full Council assumes 

the role of Shareholder in Forest Heath.  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

mailto:simon.phelan@westsuffolk.gov.uk


 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

 3. A Shareholder Advisory Group be established with 

the purpose of advising each Council when 
exercising its role as Shareholder consisting of two 

elected members from Forest Heath District 
Council, two from St Edmundsbury Borough 
Council and four from Suffolk County Council, with 

advice provided by senior officers of all Councils. 
The identification of Forest Heath District Council’s 

nominations to the Shareholder Advisory Group be 
delegated to the Leader of Forest Heath District 
Council acting in consultation with West Suffolk’s 

Lead Member for Housing.  

4. The composition of the Company’s Board of 
Directors to be one director from Forest Heath 

District Council who shall be an officer of West 
Suffolk Council, one director from St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council who shall be an officer of West 

Suffolk and two directors from Suffolk County 
Council (anticipated to be officers of Suffolk 

County Council), with up to an additional three 
directors appointed by the unanimous decision of 

the Shareholders. 

5. The recommendation of Forest Heath District 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
on 15 October 2015 that the criteria for selection 

of the three additional directors as specified in the 
fourth bullet of paragraph 3.24 in Appendix A be 

amended to read “up to three additional directors 
unanimously approved by the three Shareholder 
Councils. These will be ‘independent’ individuals 

selected for their relevant expertise and 
experience”. 

6. Authority to nominate Forest Heath’s director be 

delegated to the Joint West Suffolk Chief 
Executive.  

7. That the approval of the Memorandum and Articles 

of Association be delegated to the Head of Housing 
and the Monitoring Officer acting in consultation 
with West Suffolk’s Lead Member for Housing and 

Suffolk County Council’s Director of Resources, 
who will act in consultation with Suffolk County 

Council’s Cabinet Member for Finance.  

8. Authority to negotiate and finalise the Shareholder 
Agreement be delegated to the Head of Housing 

and the Monitoring Officer, acting in consultation 
with the West Suffolk’s Lead Member for Housing 
and Suffolk County Council’s Director of Resources, 

who will act in consultation with Suffolk County 
Council’s Cabinet Member for Finance. 

Page 2



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

 9. That the naming of the Housing Development 

Company be delegated to the Head of Housing 
acting in consultation with the Service Manager 

(Corporate Communications), West Suffolk’s Lead 
Member for Housing and Suffolk County Council’s 
Director of Resources, who will act in consultation 

with Suffolk County Council’s Cabinet Member for 
Finance.  

10. Authority to complete and submit the necessary 

documentation for incorporation be delegated to 
West Suffolk’s Monitoring Officer acting in 
consultation with West Suffolk’s Head of HR, Legal 

and Democratic Services and Head of Housing and 
officers from Suffolk County Council. 

11. That in principle agreement is given to the disposal 
of Forest Heath District Council’s assets (land 

and/or buildings) to the Company at market rates.  

12. That in principle agreement is given to provide to 
the Company funding through state aid compliant 
loans in line with Forest Heath District Council’s 

existing Loans Policy.  

13. A contribution of £125,000, funded from Forest 
Heath District Council’s Strategic Priorities and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy reserve, to a total 

working capital loan of £500,000 subject to 
contributions from all Councils in the following 

proportions; Forest Heath District Council (25%), 
St Edmundsbury Borough Council (25%) and 
Suffolk County Council (50%).  

14. That authority to negotiate and approve any 
staffing or TUPE matters arising in the future in 

connection with the Company’s operations be 
delegated to the Head of HR, Legal and Democratic 

Services acting in consultation with the Head of 
Finance and Resources (s151 officer) and 

appropriate Suffolk County Council officers.  

15. Once the Company’s first Annual Business and 

Delivery Plan has been submitted to Shareholders 
(Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council and Suffolk County Council) and 

approved by the Shareholders (Forest Heath 
District Council’s full Council, St Edmundsbury 

Borough Council’s full Council and Suffolk County 
Council’s Cabinet), the Company may start trading 

Page 3



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

 16. Cabinet notes the detailed financial modelling 

contained in the exempt Appendices B, C and D, 
and notes the financial viability of the exemplar 

sites appraised. 

Key Decision: 
 
(Check the appropriate 
box and delete all those 
that do not apply.) 

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 

definition? 
Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☐ 

No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒ 

 

The decisions made as a result of this report will usually be published within 
48 hours and cannot be actioned until five clear working days of the 
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is included on the 

Decisions Plan. 

Consultation:  Homes and Communities Agency 

 Internal – Finance, Legal, HR 
 Suffolk County Council 

Alternative option(s): The alternatives explored were: 

 ‘do nothing’ beyond supporting new 
housing through traditional means, 
including disposing of land and/or 

providing financial grants to housing 
associations. REJECTED – the 

development company approach affords a 
better use of limited financial resources 
and is in line with the Councils’ commercial 

approach 

 the Councils to build directly. REJECTED – 

local authorities do not have powers to 
directly undertake commercial activity but 

can do so through a company 

 joint venture model with a private 

developer. REJECTED – this option would 
take significant time to establish, the 

structure would compromise flexibility, 
notably the Councils and partner would 
have to reach a mutual agreement to 

dissolve the company, and revenue income 
would have to be shared. 

Implications:  

Are there any financial 
implications? If yes, please give 

details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

Refer to: 

 Section 2 and 
 Appendix A, section 5. 

Are there any staffing 
implications? If yes, please give 

details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

Refer to: 
 Section 3. 

Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

None arising from this report. 

Page 4



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

Are there any legal and/or policy 

implications? If yes, please give 
details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

Refer to: 

 Section 5 and 
 Appendix A, Section 3. 

Are there any equality 
implications? If yes, please give 
details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

Refer to: 

 Section 6 and 
 Appendix E. 

Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities affecting 
corporate, service or project objectives) 

Risk area Inherent level 

of risk (before 

controls) 

Controls Residual risk (after 

controls) 

 Low/Medium/ High  Low/Medium/ High* 

Business case 

insufficiently robust / 
not tested  

Medium Employment of 

specialist financial 
consultants 

Sensitivity analysis 

carried to test impact of 
negative movement on 
key assumptions 

Scrutiny of external 

modelling by Finance 
staff 

Low 

Insufficient expertise 
to ensure 

achievement of best 
value in property 
construction 

Medium/High Include within the  
business modelling of 

the costs of an 
Employer’s Agent to 
oversee the 

development process 

Provision for recruiting 
Company directors with 
background in 
development 

Use of Homes and 

Communities Agency’s 
framework agreements 
for technical consultants 
and construction   

Low/Medium 

Adverse movements 
in the housing 
market, such as 
property sales and/or 

rental price deflation, 
higher than 

anticipated building 
cost inflation leading, 
leaving the Company 
committed to unviable 
schemes  

Medium Consideration of 
viability on a site-by-
site basis so that if a 
scheme is not modelled 

to be viable, 
commencement is 
delayed or cancelled 

With assistance of the 

Employer’s Agent, keep 
up-to-date with building 
costs and the like 

Low 

Ward(s) affected: Potentially all wards 

Background papers: 

(all background papers are to be 
published on the website and a link 

included) 

None 

Page 5



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

Documents attached: Appendix A – Full Business Case for the 

Establishment of a Housing Development 
Company wholly-owned by Forest Heath 

District Council, St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council and Suffolk County 
Council 

Appendix B – EXEMPT GVA’s Site 

Appraisal Report – September 2015 

Appendix C – EXEMPT First ten years’ 
estimated profit and loss for the 

Company based on the four exemplar 
schemes  

Appendix D – EXEMPT Estimated 

Company expenditure in its first year 

Appendix E – Equalities Impact 
Assessment 

 

 

  

Page 6



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

1.     Strategic Case  

1.1 Forest Heath District Council, like St Edmundsbury Borough Council, is facing 
significant reductions in government grant funding and so is looking to be more 

innovative and behave in more commercial ways to address revenue shortfalls 
while addressing local issues. Establishing a Housing Development Company 

would contribute toward generating revenue and capital income at a greater 
level than simply selling the Council’s land assets. 

1.2 The rationale for exploring and proposing the setting up of a company was set 
out within the West Suffolk Housing Strategy 2015-18, see paragraphs 1.4 – 
1.9 of Appendix A for further details. 

 
1.3 The Company would make a significant contribution to West Suffolk’s three key 

priorities in the following ways: 

 Increased opportunities for economic growth. Most notably the 

construction of new homes will provide (a) direct employment in 
construction, (b) employment through the supply chain and (c) skills 

development, for example training and apprenticeships 

 Resilient families and communities that are healthy and active. Most 

notably access to high quality homes will improve the well-being and both 
the mental and physical health of local residents who currently struggle 

to secure suitable accommodation or live in accommodation that is 
unsuitable for their needs 

 Homes for our communities. The Company will provide new homes for 
sale, private rent, affordable rent and low cost home ownership. 

Adherence to planning policies will ensure the affordable homes meet the 
specific needs of local people, including provision of specialist 
accommodation. In addition, should certain accommodation be viable, for 

example specialist housing, this is likely to stimulate movement within 
the housing market, freeing up larger homes in all tenures. 

2. Commercial and Financial Case 

Financial Viability Modelling of Site Development by a Company  

2.1 In order to establish the commercial and financial case, or not, for establishing 

a company, for the purpose of developing housing for sale and private rent, 
GVA Consulting were commissioned by the Councils (Forest Heath, St 

Edmundsbury and Suffolk County Council), to provide modelling for the viability 
of four exemplar sites identified as part of this project.   

2.2 In summary, GVA’s analysis indicates that all four exemplar development sites 
are able to support financially viable schemes. Sensitivity testing carried out by 

GVA further indicates that the four exemplar schemes would all remain viable 
with positive, albeit reduced, profits available for distribution as dividends to 
Shareholders even if build cost inflation rose above assumptions, house price 

inflation dropped to just 1% a year for the duration of the build and sale period, 
rental inflation fell considerably, and as many as 5% of private and affordable 

rented properties were standing empty at all times, with land receipts, while 
remaining a market value, being slightly lower than assumed in the base 
model. See section 5 of Appendix A for greater detail of the financial modelling. 

Page 7



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

The Councils as Funders  

2.3 The Company will have no financial resources to pay for the construction of 
the homes, and so the assumption is that the Councils lend the Company 

money. The primary task for the Councils when acting in the Funder Role will 
be to assess the Company’s viability as an entity and the viability of each 

project for which loan funding is being sought.   

2.4 It should be noted that the modelling contained with Appendices A, B, C and 

Appendix D assumes a certain loan structure, with some loans linked to 
security, and interest return. However no loans will be granted until a full 
business plan is established by the Housing Development Company and 

presented in the first Annual Business and Delivery Plan and approved by the 
Shareholders. The Councils as funders will at this point need to consider loan 

policy compliance and their risk appetite when it comes to loan security as well 
as ensuring compliance with state aid rules, taking into account that the 

Company will have limited assets or security. 

2.5 The Funder Role also incorporates regularly monitoring and analysing financial 

information generated by the Company during the lifetime of each loan to 
ensure that the Company is not in breach of key financial requirements which 
would be stipulated as funding conditions for each loan. 

Financial Benefits of the Councils establishing a Housing Development 

Company 

2.6 There are a series of ways in which the Councils will be able to generate 

financial income through a wholly-owned company. Notably: 

 receipts from land sold by the Councils to the Company. Land 

would be sold at market value, in line with State Aid regulations. For 
modelling purposes, the assumption made is that the land-owning 

Council would derive a receipt plus an ‘interest’ payment in respect of the 
time between disposal of the land to the Company and actual payment 

for the land, this would typically be once properties have been sold 
and/or sufficient rental income generated.  However, as noted in the 
main body, decisions about loans will be made at a later date and the 

Councils will need to consider suitable structures, taking account of 
factors such as loan policy compliance and risk appetite regarding loan 

security, as well as ensuring compliance with state aid rules 

 interest on loans to the Company. The Councils have the power to 

make loans; commercial rates would need to be applied to be compliant 
with State Aid regulations. This could attract a margin over the Councils’ 

own cost of (internal) borrowing 

 distributions of profit made by the Company through dividends. 

The Company will derive an income from (a) ground rents, (b) rental 
income, net of management and maintenance costs, and/or (c) sales and 
uplift in the capital value of its assets, net of any overage agreements in 

place. These profits, net of tax, would be distributed to the Shareholders 
(the Councils) 

 purchase of services from any of the Councils. The Company may 
wish to purchase services such as housing development expertise, legal, 

Page 8



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

HR or IT support from any of the Councils at a market rate. At this stage 

the assumption has been made that the Councils will be able to support 
these services from within existing staff resources. 

2.7 Appendix A details the capital cash flows and revenue benefits for the West 
Suffolk Councils (and Suffolk County Council). This project will be referred to 

within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as a key strategic 
project for generating additional income in 2017/18. However no value will be 
assumed within the MTFS for these returns until a full business plan is 

established by the Housing Development Company and approved by the 
Shareholders – section 6 provides the timetable and next steps to establish this 

business plan. 

Provision of working capital 

2.8 As the Company will not have any resources at the outset, it is likely that 
provision will be required for working capital balances for the Housing 

Development Company. Initial modelling suggests around £150,000 costs in 
the first year in advance of requiring the monies for payment of construction 

contractors. It is proposed that this is funded from the Council’s Strategic 
Priorities and Medium Term Financial Strategy reserve. 

2.9 This would be an unsecured loan agreement and would accrue a 10% rate of 
return. It is proposed that a facility of £500,000 – split Forest Heath District 

Council (25%), St Edmundsbury Borough Council (25%) and Suffolk County 
Council (50%) – is provided to enable the Housing Development Company to 
start transacting.  

2.10 Appendix D includes a breakdown of the anticipated activities of the Company 

within the first year, with the attached costs.  

Revenue resources to complete the feasibility work prior to incorporation of 

the Company 

2.11 A provision of £90,150 (equally split between Forest Heath District Council and 

St Edmundsbury Borough Council) has been made to fund the feasibility and 
legal costs up to incorporation. Suffolk County Council has subsequently agreed 

to meet 50% of feasibility works that are not solely for the benefit of West 
Suffolk Councils.  

2.12 At the end of September, £43,600 had been spent (net of Suffolk County 
Council contributions). Thus, there is £46,550 available for completion of the 

necessary legal works for incorporation and final GVA works. These remaining 
works are estimated to cost around £40,000 (West Suffolk Councils’ share), 
thus no additional budget is being sought in this report. 

3. Human Resources Implications 

3.1 It is not anticipated that any officers will be eligible for TUPE transfer to the 
Housing Development Company. 

 
3.2 If, at a future time, there are any employment-related costs, these will be 

shared on the following basis; Forest Heath District Council (25%), St 
Edmundsbury Borough Council (25%) and Suffolk County Council (50%). 

 

Page 9



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

4. ICT Implications 

4.1 None arising from this report. However the Housing Company will need to 
consider its ICT requirements. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 Expert legal opinion has been provided by Trowers and Hamlins. Their advice is 
that the Councils can rely on the general power of competence as defined in the 

Localism Act 2011 to provide market housing subject to the Councils forming a 
Company through which to trade. In order to provide market housing, the 
Company like all housing developers will need to comply with Forest Heath 

District Council’s (and St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s) planning policies, 
most notably the requirement that 30% of homes on sites of 10 or more 

properties must be affordable housing. 
 
5.2 The Localism Act 2011 requires that a trading company should be a company 

limited by shares or a company limited by guarantee. Trowers and Hamlins 
have advised that the former structure is the more appropriate and this is the 

company structure now proposed.  
 
5.3 The Company will require a Memorandum and Articles of Association to be 

drawn up, with an optional Shareholders Agreement also proposed here. 
Trowers and Hamlins are assisting in the drafting of this documentation. The 

Company will be required to register with Companies House. Delegations are 
sought in this report to proceed to registration and incorporation of the 
Company. 

 
5.4 See section 3 in Appendix A for further details. 

6. Equalities Implications 

6.1 A detailed Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed - see Appendix E.  
 

6.2 Of note, the analysis has found that providing some affordable housing in 
compliance with planning policies will particularly assist disabled people and 
those over-represented on the Housing Register and/or having lower level 

earnings, including people from some black and minority ethnic backgrounds. 

7. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Recommendations 

7.1 Forest Heath District Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered 

this Cabinet Report in draft form at its meeting held on 15 October 2015. 

7.2 The Committee discussed the governance arrangements and in particular the 

criteria for the selection of the three directors of the Company’s Board that 
would be additional to those nominated by each of the Councils (Forest Heath, 

St Edmundsbury and Suffolk County Council). The Committee made the 
recommendation that the criteria specified in the fourth bullet of paragraph 3.24 
in Appendix A be amended to read “up to three additional directors unanimously 

approved by the three Shareholder Councils. These will be ‘independent’ 
individuals selected for their relevant expertise and experience”.  

 

Page 10



 

 

CAB/FH/15/048 
 

8. Timetable and next steps 

8.1 The overall timetable and next steps to incorporate the Company and 
commence the first development are as follows. 

27 October 2015 Forest Heath District Council Cabinet 

St Edmundsbury Borough Council Cabinet 

10 November 2015 Suffolk County Council Cabinet 

17 November 2015 Forest Heath District Council full Council 

St Edmundsbury Borough Council full Council 

December 2015 Completion of Memorandum and Articles of Association and 

Shareholders Agreement 

January 2016 Incorporation of the Company 

February 2016 First draft of Company’s Annual Business and Delivery Plan 
produced 

March – April 2016 Approval by the Shareholders (the Councils) of the first 
Annual Business and Delivery Plan 

April – May 2016 Submission of Planning Application for first site 

Spring 2016 Procurement of Employer’s Agent for first site 

Summer 2016 Procurement of construction contractor for first site 

Autumn 2016 Start on site at first site 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Appendix A:  Full Business Case for the Establishment of a Housing 

Development Company wholly-owned by Forest Heath District 
Council, St Edmundsbury Borough Council and Suffolk County 
Council 

1. Background  

1.1  Increasingly, local authorities are looking to act more commercially in order to 
generate revenue income to meet local priorities, particularly since the Localism 

Act 2011 has given greater freedoms and flexibilities to Councils wishing to 
establish companies. This is in keeping with West Suffolk’s Strategic Plan.  

1.2 With specific regard to acting more commercially in the housing market, the 
recent national Elphicke-House report (2015) set out how Councils could and 

should become Housing Delivery Enablers. The report suggests that a move 
towards Councils acting as developers and private landlords would be a positive 
shift, helping to ensure that the local housing needs and demands of an area 

can be best met.  

1.3 In a recent Ministerial Housing Statement on 20th March 2015, Brandon Lewis 
MP signaled the Government’s support for Councils setting up local housing 
companies. This includes developing new homes for market sale and private 

rent. It must be noted that the Government does not support the setting up of 
such companies where this is done to deliberately avoid the right to buy or 

Housing Revenue Account debt caps.  

1.4 The rationale for exploring and proposing the setting up of a company was set 

out within the West Suffolk Housing Strategy 2015-18 (see paragraph 1.7 
below). To summarise: 

 Forest Heath District Council and St Edmundsbury Borough Council are 
facing significant reductions in government grant funding and so are 

looking to be more innovative and behave in more commercial ways to 
address revenue shortfalls while addressing local issues. Establishing a 

housing development company would contribute toward generating 
revenue and capital income at a greater level than simply selling the land 
assets 

 direct investment by the Council, which may involve further prudential 

borrowing, would be on a commercial basis generating an internal rate of 
return as targeted within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 the ability to operate on a commercial basis coincides with addressing 
certain demand in the housing market, notably the demand for good 

quality private rented housing  

 it is widely viewed that the relative immaturity of the Private Rented 

Sector (PRS) offers institutions and larger organisations such as local 
authorities an opportunity to shape the sector, and the Government and 

the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) are encouraging this 
activity 

 it is widely recognised that housing growth and development are key 
drivers to stimulating wider economic growth and community 
regeneration 

Page 13



 

 

 
 

 there is thus an opportunity for Forest Heath District Council and St 

Edmundsbury Borough Council acting together with Suffolk County 
Council to offer good quality, well managed PRS homes while delivering 
income streams to the Councils to invest in protecting and supporting 

other services. 

1.5 Given the above rationale, the primary aim of the Company would be to 
provide quality homes for private rent and/or private sale and thereby 
generate a financial return to the Councils. 

1.6 Pursuance of this aim would have a series of wider beneficial impacts, 
including:  

 contributing to remedying housing supply issues in West Suffolk which 

jeopardise the economic and social well-being of residents and can 
undermine growth in the local economy  

 meeting Forest Heath District Council’s and St Edmundsbury Borough 
Council’s planning policies relating to the provision of affordable housing, 

rented and/or low cost home ownership, and in doing so contributing to 
addressing local affordable housing needs 

 acting as an exemplar of good practice in housing development, for 
example by offering apprenticeships, training and lifetime homes, with 

the aim of deriving reputational and commercial benefits for the Councils 
as Shareholders 

 developing, so long as a clear commercial financial case can be 
demonstrated, housing of a specialist nature such as keyworker housing, 
temporary accommodation and retirement housing and in doing so, along 

with other private developers already active in the housing market, 
contributing to a reduction of longer term social and care costs associated 

with the occupation of properties that are inappropriate to a resident’s 
needs. 

1.7 The West Suffolk Housing Strategy 2015-18, adopted by Forest Heath’s 
Council and St Edmundsbury Borough Council on 8 October 2014 and 23 

September 2014 respectively, set out eight principles against which alternative 
options for investing in new housing should be assessed. Table 1 below 
assesses the proposed Housing Development Company against these 

principles. 

Table 1:   Consideration of the proposed Housing Development Company 
against the principles established in West Suffolk’s Housing 
Strategy 

Principle Housing Development Company 

Any direct investment the Councils make 

will need to be on a commercial basis 

generating an internal rate of return as 

targeted within the Councils Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 

State Aid regulations dictate that loans 

from a Council to a wholly owned company 

must be at commercial rates. Interest 

rates in line with the requirements of the 

Councils’ Medium Term Financial Strategy 

are being used when preparing the 

business case for the Company 

Priority will be given to developing 

schemes that lead to a reduction in 

West Suffolk Councils’ need for short-term 

temporary accommodation has been taken 

Page 14



 

 

 
 

ongoing revenue costs associated with the 

Councils’ statutory housing responsibilities 

– in particular, the use of short-term 

temporary accommodation and B&B 

forward through the acquisition of a 

number of specialist units which, if the 

business case can be established, could be 

transferred into the Company once 

established. The Councils will work with the 

Company to define within planning policy 

requirements the most appropriate 

affordable housing mix which could include 

homes to minimise the need for high cost 

temporary accommodation. 

There will need to be a balance in the type 

of housing developed, both in terms of 

tenure, private and social, urban and rural, 

property size and type. Needs data will be 

used to demonstrate the size and mix of 

homes required in new locations 

The Company will develop housing across a 

mix of tenures, with the market housing 

meeting local demand, and affordable 

housing developed to comply with planning 

policies meeting local need 

Any funding provided to registered 

provider partners / private developers 

would need to deliver additional benefits 

for West Suffolk compared to those 

delivered through funding they could 

access through the Homes and 

Communities Agency of private finance 

The Company would find it difficult, at least 

in the immediate term, to access finance in 

the market place. Therefore, loans made 

by the Councils to the Company on a 

commercial basis would not be supplanting 

funding the Company could access 

elsewhere. Over time, as the Company’s 

track record becomes established, it may 

be able to secure alternative funding 

 

Any options developed need to support 

projects and programmes that will help to 

stimulate wider economic growth, 

educational attainment, sustainable 

communities and health and wellbeing 

As an obligation of developing market 

housing in West Suffolk, the Company 

would be required under Forest Heath 

District Council’s and St Edmundsbury 

Borough Council’s planning policies to 

provide affordable housing and s106 

contributions to infrastructure wherever 

financial viability allows, unless the 

development is so small that it does not 

trigger contributions. So long as financially 

viable, this would see the Company 

contributing to West Suffolk’s key priorities 

of promoting ‘resilient families and 

communities that are healthy and active’ 

and providing ‘homes for our communities’ 

The Councils will work in partnership with 

other public sector partners and seek 

support from them where they could 

directly benefit from the development of a 

specific option 

The proposed approach is predicated on 

partnership working between Forest Heath, 

St Edmundsbury and Suffolk County 

Councils and the proposed company 

structure enables other public sector 

partners to become Shareholders in the 

future 
Certain approaches may require 

investment on a scale that would require 

the Councils to enter into partnerships that 

cover more than just West Suffolk 

A number of the options will require long 

implementation and payback timescales in 

order to deliver positive outcomes, so the 

Councils will need to take a long-term 

strategic view with regard to the financial 

appraisals- considering the bigger picture 

Section 5 of this appendix gives an 

overview of the financial modelling. The 

exemplar schemes considered create a 

revenue stream. The Housing Development 

Company should be viewed as a medium-

to-long term investment, rather than a 

source of significant income in the very 

short term 

Page 15



 

 

 
 

1.8 Since early 2015 officers of West Suffolk and Suffolk County Council (the 

Councils), supported by specialist external support, have been assessing the 
potential of the Councils participating in the development of market rent and 
homes for sale across West Suffolk. 

1.9 The Company would make a significant contribution to West Suffolk’s three 

key priorities in the following ways: 

 Increased opportunities for economic growth. Most notably the 

construction of new homes will provide (a) direct employment in 
construction, (b) employment through the supply chain and (c) skills 
development, for example training and apprenticeships 

 Resilient families and communities that are healthy and active. Most 

notably access to high quality homes will improve the well-being and both 
the mental and physical health of local residents who currently struggle 
to secure suitable accommodation or live in accommodation that is 

unsuitable for their needs 

 Homes for our communities. The Company will provide new homes for 
sale, private rent, affordable rent and low cost home ownership. 
Adherence to planning policies will ensure the affordable homes meet the 

specific needs of local people, including provision of specialist 
accommodation. In addition, should certain accommodation be viable, for 

example specialist housing, this is likely to stimulate movement within 
the housing market, freeing up larger homes in all tenures. 

2 Case for establishing a Housing Development Company 

2.1 The proposal to establish the Company is based on a high level options 

appraisal conducted to determine the most appropriate means by which the 
West Suffolk Councils’ objectives, as set out above, could be met.  

2.2 The alternatives explored were: 

 ‘do nothing’ beyond supporting new housing through traditional means, 
including disposing of land and/or providing financial grants to housing 

associations. REJECTED – the development company approach affords a 
better use of scarce financial resources and is in line with the Councils’ 
commercial approach 

 the Councils to build directly. REJECTED – local authorities do not have 

powers to directly undertake commercial activity but can do so through a 
company 

 joint venture model with a private developer. REJECTED – this option 
would take significant time to establish, the structure would compromise 

flexibility, notably the Councils and partner would have to agree to 
dissolve the company, and revenue income would have to be shared. 

The benefits of Forest Heath, St Edmundsbury and Suffolk County Council 
working together 

2.3 The three authorities working together to establish a Housing Development 
Company is undoubtedly in keeping with the transformation agenda across 

Suffolk, in particular the principles of devolution. The Company is based on 

Page 16



 

 

 
 

working across organisational boundaries while respecting the individual 

sovereignty of partners. Furthermore, it furthers the county-wide drive for 
efficient, joined up ways of doing things that ‘look right for Suffolk’.  The 
approach being adopted is flexible and adaptable enough for other authorities 

to be able to join at a later date if appropriate. 

2.4 The complementary experience, skills and powers of the three Councils mean 
there are tangible commercial and operational benefits to all authorities 
coming together. Notably: 

 there are key development sites or packages of sites where the 
constituent Councils have land-holdings on which joint working would 

ease site assembly 

 the County Council has other land holdings in West Suffolk that could be 
made available to the Company 

 the West Suffolk Councils as both the planning authorities and strategic 
housing authorities have expertise that can facilitate development 

 the West Suffolk Councils have insight into and experience of acting in 
the private rented market through the West Suffolk Lettings Partnership 

 Suffolk County Council’s social care teams can assist West Suffolk 
Councils’ strategic housing team determine specialist housing needs that  

could be met by the Company when discharging its planning obligations 
regarding affordable housing 

 all of the Councils could support commercial loans to the Company. 

The benefits of operating through a Company 

2.5 A company is a particularly good way to operate for the following reasons: 

 by clearly asserting the Company’s commercial character, it is unlikely to 

be considered by any parties as being a ‘body governed by public law’, 
this means that it would not be obliged to follow European Union 
procurement regulations, therefore the Company would act on the same 

basis as its competitors, although it could opt to follow these if, on a 
scheme-by-scheme basis, this was considered beneficial 

 a company vehicle can potentially extend its operations to wider trading 
functions related to housing development, subject to Shareholder 

approval. For example, the Company could develop commercial buildings 
where this makes a commercial return and is integral on any particular 

site and supports the Company’s primary purpose of providing housing 

 a company structure affords flexibility for the future in that it would allow 

other district authorities or public bodies operating in Suffolk and beyond 
to be admitted as Shareholders in the proposed Company. 

The financial benefits to the Councils of establishing a Housing Development 
Company 

2.6 There are a series of ways in which the Councils will be able to generate 
financial income through a wholly-owned company. Notably: 

Page 17



 

 

 
 

 receipts from land sold by the Councils to the Company. Land 

would be sold at market value, in line with State Aid regulations. For 
modelling purposes, the assumption made is that the land-owning 
Council would derive a receipt plus an ‘interest’ payment in respect of the 

time between disposal of the land to the Company and actual payment 
for the land, this would typically be once properties have been sold 

and/or sufficient rental income generated.  However, as noted in the 
main body, decisions about loans will be made at a later date and the 
Councils will need to consider suitable structures, taking account of 

factors such as loan policy compliance and risk appetite regarding loan 
security, as well as ensuring compliance with state aid rules 

 interest on loans to the Company. The Councils have the power to 
make loans; commercial rates would need to be applied to be compliant 

with State Aid regulations. This could attract a margin over the Councils’ 
own cost of (internal) borrowing 

 distributions of profit made by the Company through dividends. 
The Company will derive an income from (a) ground rents, (b) rental 

income, net of management and maintenance costs, and/or (c) sales and 
uplift in the capital value of its assets, net of any overage agreements in 

place. These profits, net of tax, would be distributed to the Shareholders 
(the Councils) 

 purchase of services from any of the Councils. The Company may 
wish to purchase services such as housing development expertise, legal, 
HR or IT support from any of the Councils at a market rate. At this stage 

the assumption has been made that the Councils will be able to support 
these services from within existing staff resources. 

2.7 Diagram 1 below shows the possible financial flows between the Company and 
the Councils. In addition, it shows the Company’s potential interactions with 

other organisations. Other non-Council bodies would include the contractors 
building the properties and any owners of private land or properties which the 

Company acquires. This could also include other sources of loan funding 
available in the future. 

  

Page 18



 

 

 
 

Diagram 1: Financial flows between the Company and its 

creditors and suppliers (Council and non-Council)  
and the housing developed 

 

 

 

  

Housing developed by the Company 

Private 

sales 
Private rent 

Affordable 

rent 

Shared 

ownership 

Sales receipt 
Rent – net of fees to a third party for property 

management (see ‘non-Council body as provider of 
supplies and services’ above) 

Sales receipt 
and rent 

Non-Council body 

as provider of 
supplies and 

services 

Non-Council 
body as 

provider of 

loans 
Fees 

Company 

Council as a 
provider of 

loans 

Council as 

provider of 
supplies and 

services  

Repayment 
with interest 

Fees 

Council as 

land-owner 

Non-Council body 
as land or 

property owner 

The Councils as 

Shareholders 

Receipt (with interest if 
receipt is deferred) 

Dividends: distribution 
of profits 

Receipt 

Repayment 
with interest 

Page 19



 

 

 
 

3.  Legal Considerations and Governance of the Company   

Legal context 

3.1 Trowers and Hamlins lawyers have provided detailed advice on the legal 
aspects of establishing a Housing Development Company. The information in 
this section of the report has been taken from the advice they have provided. 

3.2 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides local authorities with the power to 
do anything an individual may do, subject to a number of limitations. This is 

referred to as the general power of competence. A local authority may 
exercise the general power of competence for a commercial purpose. 

3.3 Section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003 is also of relevance. The 

associated regulations, Regulation 2 of the Local Government (Best Value 
Authorities) (Power to Trade) (England) Order 2009, require a business case 

to be prepared and approved by the Council before a company starts trading. 
This report constitutes that business case for the Housing Development 

Company. 

3.3 Section 4 of the Localism Act 2011 requires that where a local authority 
exercises the general power of competence for a commercial purpose it must 

do this through a company. The form of company recommended by Trowers 
and Hamlins is a company limited by shares. It is Trowers and Hamlins’ view 

that the Councils can rely upon the general power of competence to form the 
Housing Development Company for the purpose of that company operating a 
business to sell and let homes at market rates.   

3.4 In order to gain planning permission for development of private sector housing 
on sites of more than 10 homes, the Company will need to have regard to 

Forest Heath District Council’s and St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s 
Planning Policies, in particular the requirement to provide 30% of the homes 
as affordable housing. 

 

Form of company 

3.5 As noted above, the legal advice provided by Trowers and Hamlins is that the 

Company should be a company limited by shares. This form of company 
complies with the ability to trade provisions set out within the Localism Act 
2011. Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury Borough Council and 

Suffolk County Council will between them own the entire share capital. There 
are certain requirements that will apply to the Company, some of which are 

statutory such as the obligation to file annual returns and accounts, while 
others the Councils will be able to determine themselves, including the 

governance arrangements.  

3.6 The proposed governance structure detailed below is viable from both a 

regulatory and constitutional perspective.  

Governance structure 

3.7 The proposed governance structure for the Company is set out in Diagram 2 

below. There are three key components of this structure: 

Page 20



 

 

 
 

 the three Councils, each being a Shareholder – see paragraphs 3.8 – 3.9 below 

for a fuller discussion of this role 

 the Shareholder Advisory Group – an elected member only group which 

exercises scrutiny of the Company’s reports and performance, provides 
strategic guidance and advises the Councils when exercising their rights and 

responsibilities as Shareholders – see paragraphs 3.10 – 3.23 for more details 

 the Company’s Board of Directors – the body which manages the affairs of the 

Company on a day-to-day basis. The Board will have a majority of directors 
nominated by the individual Shareholder Councils. All nominees will be officers. 
In addition, there is provision for up to three additional directors unanimously 

approved by the Shareholders – see paragraphs 3.24 – 3.28 for more details.  

  

Page 21



 

 

 
 

 

Diagram 2: Proposed Governance Structure for the  
Housing Development Company  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Shareholders 
Responsibility for approving the Company’s  

Annual Business and Delivery Plan 

Forest Heath 

District Council 
Shareholder role held 
by Forest Heath District 
Council’s full Council 

St Edmundsbury 

Borough Council 
Shareholder role held by 
St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council’s full 
Council 

Suffolk County 

Council    
Shareholder role held 
by Suffolk County 
Council’s Cabinet 

Appropriate directors / assistant 
directors / heads of service 

s151 officers (WS and SCC) – 
note: to avoid conflicts of 
interest, may be best not to 
also be a Company director 

Monitoring officers (WS and 
SCC) 

Officer advisors to the 

Shareholder Advisory 
Group 

Shareholder Advisory 
Group 

 

Provides strategic advice to 

assist Shareholder Councils’ 

decision-making regarding the 

Company  

 

2 Forest Heath District 

Council elected members  

2 St Edmundsbury Borough 

Council elected members 

4 Suffolk County Council 
elected members 

1 Forest Heath District Council nominee – officer 

1 St Edmundsbury Borough Council nominee – officer  

2 Suffolk County Council nominees – officers  

Up to 3 independent directors appointed by the unanimous 
decision of the Shareholders – potential for remuneration 

 

Housing Development Company 

Board of Directors 

Page 22



 

 

 
 

The Councils’ Shareholder Role  

3.8 Forest Heath District Council’s full Council, St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s 
full Council and Suffolk County Council’s Cabinet will each hold a Shareholder 

role. 

3.9 Acting in their Shareholder roles, these bodies will be charged with protecting 

the Councils’ interests as owners of the Company. Most notably, each body will 
be required to consider and approve the Company’s Business and Delivery 

Plan each year. 

The Shareholder Advisory Group 

3.10 To ensure Shareholder oversight of the Company, it is considered appropriate to 

establish a smaller body of elected members to more regularly consider matters 
relating to the Company. To this end, it is proposed to establish a Shareholder 
Advisory Group consisting of elected members from the three Councils. Such 

groups, albeit with slightly different names and roles, have been established by 
a number of authorities that have set up housing development companies, 

including Thurrock Council where the first site is now in development. In 
addition, Suffolk County Council has developed a similar governance approach 
regarding their wholly-owned companies. 

3.11 The detailed arrangements concerning the operation of the Shareholder 

Advisory Group will be enshrined in the Shareholders Agreement.  

3.12 It is proposed that elected members join the Shareholder Advisory Group rather 

than the Board of Directors so as to minimise members’ exposure to conflict of 
interest situations which can carry significant penalties under the law. 

3.13 Members may feel the requirements of directors under the Companies Act 2006 
conflict with their roles as elected members and representatives of their 

communities. 

3.14 Members taking up a directorship would be required to abide by the seven 

duties of directors codified in the Companies Act 2006. Directors failing to 
observe these duties are open to prosecution and there are cases of directors 

being fined and/or stripped on their ability to be a company director in the 
future. These duties include directors personally exercising reasonable care and 
diligence over the Company’s dealings, confining themselves to what the 

Company was set up to do, not fettering their decision-making, and, where 
there is one, declaring an interest in a proposed transaction with the Company. 

3.15 The Shareholder Advisory Group would consist of elected members only, in the 
following proportions: 

 Forest Heath District Council – two members 

 St Edmundsbury Borough Council – two members  

 Suffolk County Council – four members. 

3.16 The members from Forest Heath District Council and St Edmundsbury Borough 

Council would be selected by the Leader of each Council respectively acting in 
consultation with West Suffolk’s Lead Member for Housing.  

Page 23



 

 

 
 

3.17 The roles of the Shareholder Advisory Group would be as follows: 

 advise on the overall strategic direction of the Company 

 receive and scrutinise reports on the performance of the Company on a 

regular basis, including meeting directors of the Company 

 consider, comment on and suggest content for and amendments to the 

draft Annual Business and Delivery Plan produced by the Company 

 consider how the Company could further the priorities of the Shareholder 

Councils, while not at any time undermining the Company’s primary 

commercial focus. 

3.18 The Shareholder Advisory Group would be provided with financial and technical 

assistance from senior officers of the Shareholder Councils to assess the 
Company’s performance against its business plan as well as its general 
commercial operations. It is anticipated that the officers providing advice would 

include each Council’s section 151 officer and monitoring officer so long as 
these officers were not themselves directors of the Company. 

3.19 It is proposed that the Shareholder Advisory Group would appoint a Chair and 
Vice-Chair. The Chair and Vice-Chair posts would always be held by members 

from different authorities, that is, Suffolk County Council and Forest Heath 
District Council or Suffolk County Council and St Edmundsbury Borough Council. 

3.20 In addition, there would be an open invitation for members of the Shareholder 
Advisory Group to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting to directly put 

forward and represent the Shareholders’ views and priorities. 

3.21 It is anticipated that the Shareholder Advisory Group will meet between two and 

four times a year. 

3.22 Integral to the remit of the Shareholder Advisory Group is the detailed 
consideration of the Company’s draft Annual Business and Delivery Plan each 
year. The Shareholder Advisory Group will discuss its contents with 

representatives of the Company and seek to satisfy itself of its viability and 
robustness. As noted above, the elected members on the Group will be assisted 

in this by senior officers from the Councils. The Shareholder Advisory Group will 
be in a position to recommend, or otherwise, approval of Annual Business and 
Delivery Plan by Forest Heath District Council’s full Council, St Edmundsbury 

Borough Council’s full Council and Suffolk County Council’s Cabinet when these 
bodies are carrying out their role as Shareholder of the Company. Any 

recommendations require majority support and the support of both the Chair 
and Vice-Chair. It is envisaged that the Chair would have a casting vote should 
there be a 50/50 split of votes, but the support of both the Chair and Vice-Chair 

would still be required, however the implications of this approach are still being 
considered as part of the drafting of the Memoradum and Articles of Association 

and shareholders’ agreement. A quorum would be achieved by the presence of 
four members, including the Chair and Vice-Chair.  

3.23  The Shareholder Advisory Group would not be a formal committee of any of the 
Shareholder Councils as defined in the Local Government Act 1972.  As such, 

there would be no requirement for agendas, papers and minutes to be 

Page 24



 

 

 
 

published, nor for the meetings to be open to the public. The Shareholder 

Advisory Group would not be included within the Constitution of any of the 
Shareholder Councils. 

The Board of Directors 

3.24 The Company’s Board of Directors would consist of: 

 one nomination by Forest Heath District Council. This nomination would be a 

senior officer of West Suffolk Councils 

 one nomination by St Edmundsbury’s Borough Council. This nomination would 

be a senior officer of West Suffolk Councils 

 two nominations by Suffolk County Council. These nominations would be senior 

officers 

 up to three additional directors unanimously approved by the three Shareholder 
Councils. These may either be ‘independent’ individuals selected for the 
relevant expertise and experience in relation to housing development, or other 

officers.  

3.25 The Company would have the discretion to pay any director who does not 
already receive a salary from one of the Shareholder Councils. The Councils 
would, however, be able to charge the Company for costs covering the time the 

officers nominated as directors spend on Company business. 

3.26 The Councils as the Shareholders will retain the right under the Company’s 
Articles of Association to appoint and dismiss the Company’s Directors. 

3.27 The Directors will have ultimate responsibility for directing the activities of the 
Company, ensuring that it is well run and delivering the outcomes for which it 
has been established. Directors would act in line with the Memorandum and 

Articles of Association and the Shareholder Agreement, with their roles 
including: 

 drawing up the Company’s annual business plan for onward submission 
to the Councils, acting as Shareholders, to consider and approve  

 setting budgets, policies and plans and monitoring performance of the 

Company, and setting a framework for internal controls 

 ensuring compliance with the Company’s objects, purposes and values 

 ensuring the financial strength, solvency and good performance of the 
Company 

 ensuring the Company complies with all relevant regulation and laws 

 dealing with the appointment and appraisal of staff, should any be 
directly employed by the Company 

 procuring services necessary for the execution of the Company’s 

objectives. 

3.28 The very light overall structure of the Company reflects the fact that day-to-day 

operations are envisaged to be provided by staff within the Councils through a 

Page 25



 

 

 
 

Service Level Agreement for which the Company would pay or via third party 

agency or consultancy arrangements until such time that the Company is of 
sufficient size that it may be more practical and tax efficient to employ staff 
directly. Any staffing implications would need to be considered at that point in 

time. 

Does the Councils’ interest in the Company compromise its commercial 
character? 

3.29 As made clear when discussing the Company’s objectives above, the Housing 
Development Company’s primary purpose is to act as a commercial entity and 
make a financial return from developing housing for sale or private rent. A 

necessary consequence of such activity undertaken by any private house-
builder, and indeed a beneficial one from the Councils’ perspective, is that 

affordable housing is also provided. Councils acting as planning authorities and 
promoters of the well-being of local communities and the local economy require 

private companies to provide affordable homes in line with local needs, as 
reflected in their planning policies. Requiring the Company to adhere to local 
planning policies does not compromise the Company’s commercial aims. 

Indeed, it is an everyday occurrence for successful private house-builders to 
fund planning contributions and affordable housing requirements within their 

business plans. 

3.30 The Councils have a number of ways in which they can legitimately guide the 

activity of the Company, including: 

 as a Shareholder – appointing and removing directors, signing off the 

Company’s annual business plan, and signing off any changes to the 
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association 

 as a land owner – making available land to the Company, and deciding 
whether or not to dispose of particular sites to the Company. Note: 

disposal must be at market value so as not to contravene State Aid 
regulations and to satisfy the Councils’ Local Government Act 1972 

Section 123 duty to obtain the best consideration that can be reasonably 
obtained  

 as a funder – deciding whether or not to make loans to the Company. It 
is considered that it would be difficult for the newly formed Company to 

secure affordable loans by any other means. Note: loans must be at 
commercial rates so as not to contravene State Aid regulations 

 as a strategic housing authority – as when working with any housing 
developer, directing the required affordable housing mix and/or the need 

for specialist housing on sites in line with the relevant planning policies 

 as a planning authority – as with any housing developer, assessing 

whether a particular proposal by the Company meets planning 
requirements. 

The Councils as Funders  

3.31 The primary task when acting as a Funder will be to assess the Company’s 
viability as an entity and the viability of each project for which loan funding is 
being sought. Consideration of a number of factors will be taken into account 

Page 26



 

 

 
 

to determine whether to release loan funding to the Company such as the 

value of assets available to be used as security, state aid compliant equity 
versus debt ratios for the Company, policy compliance and acceptable level of 
risk exposure for the Shareholders. 

3.32 The Funder Role also incorporates regularly monitoring and analysing financial 

information generated by the Company during the lifetime of each loan to 
ensure that the Company is not in breach of key financial requirements which 
would be stipulated as funding conditions for each loan. 

3.33 The key areas the Councils in their Funder Role will want to be satisfied with 
prior to providing funding for a development are likely to include: 

 that the financial modelling demonstrates that the loan will be repaid 

 that any loans accord with the Councils’ approved loan polices, notably 
with regard to security considerations 

 there is confidence that the projected rental stream can be maintained 

 that base level sensitivities, which would in turn trigger warning signals, 
for the Company’s general performance and the performance of each 

proposed development are properly set and that a sufficient margin is 
added to the base level to provide reassurance  

 that the loan is State Aid compliant. 

Procurement 

3.34 As discussed above, the Company as set up would be unlikely to face a 

challenge that it is a body governed by public law and so would not need to 
follow public procurement rules. The Company’s Board, however, acting like 
any other entity, would need to determine its own procurement policy in 

accordance with best practice and relevant legislation. The Articles of 
Association and Shareholder Agreement will oblige the Company to establish 

and follow its own set of financial regulations and standing orders which 
demonstrate best value.    

4. Name of the Company 

4.1 The name of the Company is an important issue. To stress its commercial aims 
and remit across West Suffolk and beyond it is considered beneficial to select a 
name that is not immediately linked to any one or other of the Shareholder 

Councils. It is proposed to delegate the selection of an appropriate name to 
the Head of Housing acting in consultation with the Service Manager 

(Corporate Communications), West Suffolk’s Lead Member for Housing and 
Suffolk County Council’s Director of Resources. 

5. Financial Case 
 

Financial viability of site development – financial appraisal by  
GVA Consulting 
 

5.1 The financial viability of market-led housing development by a wholly-owned 
company as detailed in this report has been modelled and tested by GVA 

Consulting, a leading financial consultancy with expertise in this field.  

Page 27



 

 

 
 

 

5.2 The Councils provided GVA with four exemplar sites across Forest Heath and 
St Edmundsbury and in different Councils’ ownerships. GVA conducted a 
detailed financial appraisal of these four exemplar sites – see Appendix B for 

GVA’s full report. Appendix B is exempt from consideration in public as it 
contains valuation details for sites in the Shareholder Councils’ ownership, 

publication of which could fetter the achievement of best value. 
 

5.3 In outline terms, the financial operating model is as follows: 

 Funding the purchase of land and the building the homes 

 the Company builds homes of all tenures on land it purchases from 
Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury Borough Council and/or 

Suffolk County Council and also, if viable, purchases can be made on 
the open market 

 the Company has no assets or financial resources with which to buy the 
land at the beginning of the development, so the land-owning Council 

agrees to defer the need for the Company to pay a receipt for the land, 
but in return, the Council charges interest for the period of the 
deferment 

 furthermore, the Company has no financial resources to pay for the 

construction of the homes, and so the Councils lend the Company 
money. The Council charges an interest rate commensurate with 
market rates. This is higher than the Councils’ (internal) rate of 

borrowing or the interest it earns on reserves, and so this represents an 
income to the Councils  

 Paying for the land and repaying loans 

 a large proportion of the homes built will be sold on the open market or 
through shared ownership arrangements. The Company will use the 

income from sales to pay for the land and repay the loans for the 
construction of these homes 

 there will be a profit made as the sales prices will exceed the cost of the 
land and construction of the homes sold. This will be available as a 
dividend payment to the Shareholders (the Councils) and/or could be 

used to cross-subsidy the construction of the rental homes – see below 

 Paying for retained rental properties  

 the cost of the land and construction of the properties that the 

Company retains and rents out will be met from two possible sources – 
(a) as noted above, the profit on the homes that are sold and (b) a loan 

taken out against the value of the retained properties, essentially a 
mortgage that is paid off over thirty years 

 Making a profit  

 the Company makes a profit on each home sold and uses this to make a 

dividend payment and/or cross-subsidise the construction of the rental 
homes. The profit is, of course, net of paying the Councils for the land, 

Page 28



 

 

 
 

repaying the loans made by the Councils and paying the interest on the 

deferred land receipts and loans 

 the Company’s ongoing profit is the difference between the rent it 

receives, net of the cost of managing and maintaining the homes, and 
the principal and interest repayment of the mortgage on those homes. 

The profits net of any Company running costs and tax payable are 
available as dividends to the shareholding Councils – Forest Heath 
District Council, St Edmundsbury Borough Council and Suffolk County 

Council 

 in the future, some or all of the rental properties could be sold with the 

values achieved, net of repayment of any mortgage still attached to 
those homes, available as dividends to the shareholding Councils. 

5.4 In summary – see the tenure mix in Table 2 and financial analysis in Table 3 
below – GVA’s analysis indicates that all four exemplar development sites are 

able to support financially viable schemes, that is, each scheme: 

 provides a market value receipt to the land-owning Council 

 achieves sufficient income from sales to pay for the land, on a deferred 

basis, and the repayment of the cash loan to fund the development, along 
with interest in respect of the deferred payment and loan, by year four of 

the scheme 

 supports 30% affordable housing provision in line with the Forest Heath 

District Council’s and St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s planning policies 

 with a secured loan provided on a 30 year term, essentially a mortgage 

covering the retained private rent and affordable rent homes,  provides a 
steady revenue income 

 retains a portfolio of rented properties which can be sold on at a later date 
to achieve a capital receipt. 

Table 2: Tenure mix modelled for the four exemplar sites 

Tenure 
Total homes across the 

four exemplar sites 

Homes for sale 84 

Private rented homes 46 

Affordable homes 56 

TOTAL 186 

 

Page 29



 

 

 
 

 

Table 3: Financial analysis based on development of the four exemplar sites 

 
West Suffolk 

£’000s 

Suffolk County 

£’000s 

Capital receipts from land 4,843 4,876 

Interest on deferred capital receipts and loans 
to the Company  

1,565 1,670 

Profit on 84 house sales 1,011 1,011 

Annual rental income from 102 properties – 
average of years 6 to 10  

(net of corporation tax)* 

147 147 

Funded by repayable loans by the Councils 11,316 11,283 

*  Rental properties will increase in value over time. If all/some are sold, this would generate a 

capital receipt that would be returned to the Councils as shareholders 

 

5.5 The modelling by GVA is based on a series of assumptions. GVA’s full report is 
attached at Appendix B; see paragraph 2.5 of the Appendix B for full details of 

the assumptions used. The table in Appendix C provides a summary of the 
anticipated profit and loss for the Housing Development Company across the 
four sites modelled for the first 10 years. Appendix C is exempt from 

consideration in public as it contains commercially sensitive financial 
information. 

5.6 In the early years the Company will run at a loss, with outgoings covering 
interest payable and construction costs. Upon completion of the sites the 

properties for private sale will be sold on the open market, causing a spike in 
profits before the Company moves to making a steady profit from the retained 

rental portfolio, private rented and affordable. This rental profit will be derived 
from ground rents and rental income, net of management, maintenance and 
borrowing costs.  

5.7 These profits, net of tax, would be available to be distributed to the 

Shareholders – Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury Borough Council 
and Suffolk County Council. Tax advice was not included within the scope of 
GVA’s work, so for the purposes of the modelling a 20% corporation tax rate 

has been used, with no adjustment for allowable (including capital allowances) 
and non-allowable expenses.  See Appendix C for estimated profit and loss 

figures. 

5.9 Appendix B provides the Housing Development Company financial model in 

detail across 40 years. At year 15 (after the scheme development phase) the 
financial modelling assumes the sale of all private rented properties. As a result 

Page 30



 

 

 
 

the profits of the Housing Development Company show a further spike around 

the 15th year post completion followed by a reduction in profits in future years 
as the net rental income from those private rented properties are no longer 
generated for the Company. The affordable housing element of the portfolio has 

been modelled to be retained by the Company for 40 years and then the model 
assumes their disposal, hence the further spike in profits in the last two years 

of the model; the net rental income then ceases.  

The Financial model - capital and revenue flows to and from  

the Housing Development Company 

5.10 The current financial modelling performed by GVA has the following medium to 

longer term capital and revenue financial implications for the Shareholders. 

Capital  
 

5.11 The Shareholders are assumed to be the main funders (see funder’s role at 
paragraphs 3.31 – 3.33) to the Housing Development Company and as such 

Table 4 below includes the likely loan cash flows to the Company and their 
repayment profile. 

Table 4:  Capital Financial Implications based on the four exemplar sites 

 

 

5.12 It should be noted that the Forest Heath Medium Term Financial Strategy 
includes a provisional capital allocation of £3 million for support delivery of the 

Housing Strategy, primarily through the Housing Development Company, and 

Council - Capital Financial implications 

(Cashflow basis) Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26

By inflows/(outflows) category

Capital Receipt from Land (unsecured) 0 0 0 6,370 0 3,349 0 0 0 0
Cash Loan to Company (unsecured) (826) (2,472) (3,784) (1,647) (991) 0 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan Repayment (unsecured) 0 0 1,301 5,071 1,146 2,202 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan to Company (secured) 0 (400) (443) (626) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan Repayment (secured) 0 0 656 814 0 0 0 0 0 0

Long Term Loan to Company (secured) (7,599) 0 (3,308) 0 0 0 0

Long Term Loan Repayment (secured) 160 165 239 246 254 261 269

Total (826) (2,872) (2,270) 2,542 320 2,482 246 254 261 269

West Suffolk Councils
Capital Receipt from Land (unsecured) 0 0 0 2,716 0 2,127 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan to Company (unsecured) (826) (1,998) (1,089) (601) (362) 0 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan Repayment (unsecured) 0 0 1,301 2,353 418 804 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan to Company (secured) 0 (200) (222) (313) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan Repayment (secured) 0 0 328 407 0 0 0 0 0 0

Long Term Loan to Company (secured) (3,799) 0 (1,654) 0 0 0 0

Long Term Loan Repayment (secured) 80 82 119 123 127 131 134

Total (826) (2,198) 318 842 139 1,396 123 127 131 134

Suffolk County Council
Capital Receipt from Land (unsecured) 0 0 0 3,654 0 1,222 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan to Company (unsecured) 0 (474) (2,695) (1,046) (629) 0 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan Repayment (unsecured) 0 0 0 2,718 728 1,398 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan to Company (secured) 0 (200) (222) (313) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cash Loan Repayment (secured) 0 0 328 407 0 0 0 0 0 0

Long Term Loan to Company (secured) (3,799) 0 (1,654) 0 0 0 0

Long Term Loan Repayment (secured) 80 82 119 123 127 131 134

Total 0 (674) (2,589) 1,700 181 1,086 123 127 131 134

Page 31



 

 

 
 

the St Edmundsbury Medium Term Financial Strategy includes a capital 

provision of £2.4m for this purpose. (This is net of other commitments in St 
Edmundsbury, notably purchasing property to ease bed and breakfast 
liabilities relating to assisting homeless people.) The total value, its profile and 

its revenue return will be established through the development of the 
Company’s Business and Delivery Plan which will be presented to the Council 

early in 2016.  
 

Land 

5.13 The land-owning council would receive a receipt for the land transferred to the 

Company. The land has been assumed to be sold to the Housing Development 
Company at market value. Payment for the land would be deferred and so its 

value would be converted into an unsecured short term loan and will accrue a 
10% rate of return up until the loan is repaid by the Housing Company. This 

loan agreement repayment is assumed to take place following the sales 
programme at around year 3-4 of each scheme. 

Loan(s) – short term 

5.14 In order to equalise the position of Shareholders, it is assumed that the non 

land-owning council will make a cash loan, for the same sum as the land value, 
as an unsecured short term loan agreement. This unsecured loan will accrue a 

10% rate of return up until the loan is repaid by the Housing Development 
Company. This loan repayment is assumed to take place following the sales 
programme at around year 3-4 of each scheme. 

5.15 Where additional funds are required for the development phase, over and 

above those provided through the above cash loans, these are assumed to be 
available from the Shareholders on an equal basis (West Suffolk Councils 50% 
and Suffolk County Council 50%) as secured loans. These will accrue a 6% rate 

of return up until the loan is repaid by the Housing Development Company. 
Again these loan repayments are assumed to take place following the sales 

programme at around year 3-4 of each scheme. 

Loan(s) – long term 

5.16 The model currently assumes that following the sales programme and at the 
point of repayment of all the loans referred to above, a long-term loan will be 

entered into by the Housing Development Company for the retained portfolio so 
refinancing will take place. Again it is assumed that the Shareholders will 

provide that long term (30 year) loan (although as the loan could be secured 
against the retained properties the Company may be able to access alternative 

funding). Interest will be payable at a rate of approximately 3% on a secured 
basis.  Further consideration will be required by the Housing Development 
Company on the loan security value of the retained properties against the loan 

value required – for the purposes of the model the security value is assumed to 
be sufficient across the private rented and affordable housing portfolios.  

Working capital loan(s) 

5.18 It is likely that provision is required for working capital balances for the Housing 
Company and as the Shareholders are assumed to be the main funders, it is 
assumed that a working capital loan facility will be made available by the 

Page 32



 

 

 
 

Shareholders. This working capital will take the form of an unsecured loan 

agreement and will accrue a 10% rate of return. It is proposed that a facility of 
£500,000 is provided to enable the Housing Development Company to start 
transacting.  

5.19 As it is unknown what working capital is required and that it would be a loan 

facility that can be called upon when required, the revenue table below 
excludes the interest receivable. Initial modelling suggests around £150,000 
costs in the first year in advance of requiring the monies for payment of 

construction contractors – see Appendix D for further details. 

Summary of Loans 

5.20 Table 5 summarises the total loan facilities between the Shareholders and the 

Housing Company modelled across the four sites. The value between secured 
and unsecured loans will need to be considered by the Housing Company and 
the Shareholders prior to entering into loan agreements. The modelling is for 

illustrative purposes only at this stage as a number of factors will need to be 
taken into account when agreeing the unsecured and secured ratio. Considering 

such factors as the value of assets available to be used as security, state aid 
compliant equity versus debt ratios for the Company, and policy compliance 
and acceptable level of risk exposure for the Shareholders.  

Table 5:  Summary of Loans based on the four exemplar sites 

   

 

5.21 Table 5 represents the total value of loans that could be required over the life of 
the Housing Development Company based on the four sites modelled, however 
the cash flows of these loans means that the Shareholders would not be 

exposed to this total value at any one moment in time. It is envisaged that the 
short term loans will be repaid prior to any long-term loans being negotiated.  

 
Revenue  

 
5.22  Table 6 below details the impact on the Council’s revenue budgets for the next 

10 years. 

 
 

 
  

Loan type - for modelling purposes 

only

West Suffolk 

Councils

Suffolk County 

Council

Land - short term loan (unsecured) 4,843 4,876

Loan(s) - short term (unsecured) 4,877 4,844

Loan(s) - short term (secured) 735 735

Loan(s)- long term (secured) 5,454 5,454

Working capital loan(s) (unsecured) 250 250

Total potential loan values 16,158 16,15916,159 

Page 33



 

 

 
 

Table 6:  Revenue Financial Implications based on the four exemplar sites 

 
* see para 5.26  ** see para 5.30 

 

Land – interest on cash loan  

5.23 The land-owning council would receive a receipt for the land transferred to the 
Company. This receipt value will be recorded as an unsecured short term loan 
and will accrue interest at 10% (unsecured rate) up until repayment takes 

place. 

Loan(s) – interest margin 

5.24 All short term cash loans will accrue interest of either 10% for unsecured or 6% 

for secured loans.  

5.25 In line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy and investment framework all 

business cases are being considered on the basis of prudential borrowing and 
therefore only a 7% (unsecured) or 3% (secured) interest margin has been 

factored into the revenue modelling below, that is the 10% and 6% rates paid 
by the Company net of an estimated 3% cost to the Councils to borrow the 
money which is on-lent.  

5.26 For the purpose of modelling no interest margin has been assumed on the long 

term loan. An assessment would need to be made as to whether a margin 
would be available given the commercial rate for a 30 year loan against the 
Council’s rate of internal borrowing. 

5.27 The assumption is that a minimum revenue provision for all loans will not be 

required however, this assumption is still being considered and to be agreed 
with external auditors.  

 

Council - Revenue Financial implications Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26

By income category

Land Interest Repayment 151 400 719 717 371 158

Cash Loan interest margin (unsecured) 16 97 215 188 154 34

Cash Loan interest margin (secured) 1 11 4

Long Term Loan interest margin (secured) *  -  -  -  -  -  -
Dividend *  -  -  -  -  -  -

Total 167 498 945 909 525 192 0 0 0 0

West Suffolk Councils

Land Interest Repayment 88 297 441 236 100

Cash Loan interest margin (unsecured) 16 89 147 74 56 12

Cash Loan interest margin (secured) 6 2

Long Term Loan interest margin (secured) *  -  -  -  -  -  -
Dividend *  -  -  -  -  -  -

Total 16 176 451 517 292 113 0 0 0 0

Suffolk County Council

Land Interest Repayment 151 312 422 276 135 58

Cash Loan interest margin (unsecured) 8 68 114 98 22

Cash Loan interest margin (secured) 5 2

Long Term Loan interest margin (secured) *  -  -  -  -  -  -
Dividend *  -  -  -  -  -  -

Total 151 321 494 392 233 79 0 0 0 0

** 

** 

** 

Page 34



 

 

 
 

Working capital loan(s) – interest margin 

5.28 Any short term working capital cash loans will accrue interest of 10% for 
unsecured loans.  

5.29 As it is unknown what level of working capital is required and given that the 
allowance is for a ‘loan facility’ that can be called upon when required, Table 5 

excludes the interest margin the Council would receive. 

Dividend  

5.30 The Housing Development Company’s profits, net of tax, would be available to 

be distributed to the Shareholders and this would be revenue income for the 
Shareholders (the Councils). There is an expectation that the Shareholders will 

receive dividends annually, however the amount and timing (when these come 
to fruition) will need to be set out as part of the annual business planning 
process and confirmed annually in the Annual Business and Delivery Plan and 

as part of the Annual General Meeting of the Company.  

Purchase of services from any of the Councils 

5.31 The Company may wish purchase services such as housing development 

expertise, legal, HR or IT support from any of the Councils at a market rate. At 
this stage the assumption has been made that the Councils will be able to 
support these services, however this will need to be considered on a case-by-

case basis. The revenue modelling current excludes any income with regards to 
these services.  

Sensitivity testing by GVA Consulting 

5.32 GVA were asked to model the impact of negative movement on a number of 
key assumptions within the model. In summary, the sensitivity testing 

indicates that the four exemplar schemes would all remain viable with 
positive, albeit reduced, profits available for distribution as dividends to 
Shareholders even if: 

 building cost inflation rose to and remained at 5.5% a year for the duration 

of the build phase, and 

 house price inflation dropped to just 1% a year for the duration of the build 

and sale period, and  

 rental inflation was only 1.5% for each of the 15 years the private rented 

portfolio is modelled to be held and for each of the 40 years that the 
affordable rented portfolio is modelled to be held, and 

 5% of private and affordable rented properties were standing empty 
throughout the 15 years of the private rented properties are modelled to be 

held, and for the full 40 years the affordable rented portfolio would be held, 
and 

 land receipts were at a lower, yet still market, value than in the base case. 

 
5.33 Although negatively impacted, in all cases profits are still available. It is also 

important to note that as development schemes will be brought forward on a 

Page 35



 

 

 
 

site-by-site basis, they will always be subject to a detailed financial appraisal 

based on current market conditions, inflation rates and the like. Should at this 
point the return not being considered viable, or felt to be too low in relation to 
the risk involved, the Shareholder Councils will be under no obligation to 

proceed. In this way, the Shareholder Councils can make pragmatic decisions 
regarding the level of risk involved. 

Detailed financial appraisals on a scheme-by-scheme basis 

5.34 In order to maximise Shareholder oversight of site development by the 
Company, detailed financial appraisals will be carried out by Company on a 
scheme-by-scheme basis. This analysis will be formally presented to 

Shareholders each year in the Annual Business and Delivery Plan. Only once 
Shareholders have satisfied themselves of the robustness of the appraisal will 

they approve the Annual Business and Delivery Plan. 

5.35 The Shareholder Agreement requires the Company to provide the draft Annual 

Business and Delivery Plan to Shareholders in October each year. This affords 
the Shareholder Councils sufficient time to scrutinise the proposals, seek any 

clarifications and/or amendments and factor in the capital and revenue 
implications to each of the Councils’ coming year’s capital programme and 
revenue budget, as well as incorporating the longer term implications in each 

Councils’ Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

5.36 Throughout the year, the Shareholder Advisory Group will receive regular 
reports from the Company on its performance against the Annual Business 
and Delivery Plan and it is expected that the Company will discuss any 

potential new schemes with the Shareholder Advisory Group as they arise.  

5.37 The Company will not be able to act outside of the financial caps and limits set 
in the approved Annual Business and Delivery Plan without Shareholder 
consent. 

  

6. Operation of the Housing Company 
 

6.1 The Company will primarily develop a portfolio of homes for market rent and 
sale, with a portfolio of affordable homes also developed to meet Forest Heath 
District Council’s and St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s planning 

requirements. 

6.2 The Company will own the market and affordable rent homes. It is envisaged 
that both portfolios will be managed and maintained by third parties under 
contract, with the affordable homes in all probability managed by a housing 

association. Financial provisions for meeting these contract costs have been 
included GVA’s financial modelling. 

6.3 Both the private and affordable rented dwellings owned by the Company will 
be let on Assured Tenancies and will not be subject to the Right to Buy, or to 

the allocations provisions of Part VI of the Housing Act 1996, although the 
Company will have due regard to West Suffolk’s Tenancy Strategy with regard 

to the affordable properties’ rents, length of tenancies and means of 
allocation.  

Page 36



 

 

 
 

6.4 The Company would secure appropriate development expertise and would 

appropriately tender the construction and management of units. As noted 
above, the Company would not be required to follow European Union 
procurement regulations, although it could chose to. In order to maximise 

access to the necessary skills and expertise, and minimise costs, it is 
envisaged that the Company would employ, either directly or through an SLA 

with one of the Shareholder Councils, an employer’s agent to oversee the 
drawing up of construction specifications, the lettings of contracts and the 
management of development. Financial provision for fees has been included in 

GVA’s modelling and would be included in the detailed scheme appraisals 
carried out as sites come forward. In addition, the Company may choose to 

select technical consultants and construction contractors from established 
frameworks such as those held by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). 

6.5 Officers have discussed the proposed way forward with the HCA which is very 
supportive of the approach to establishing and operating this housing 

development company. 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Appendix E – Housing Development Company – Equalities Impact Assessment 

 Question Response 

Q1) Name of the strategy, policy, programme or 
project being assessed. 

Council-owned Housing Development Company 

Q2) In no more than five lines and using Plain 
English, summarise the purpose of the policy 

or proposal, and its desired outcomes. 

Production of a robust, financial business case to establish a legally 
compliant trading company owned jointly and in the first instance 

exclusively by Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury Borough 
Council, and Suffolk County Council (herein termed ‘the Councils’) with 

the primary aim of generating both capital and revenue income through 
the development of  new housing in West Suffolk. 

Q3) Who should benefit from the proposal and in 
what way? 

Residents of West Suffolk and those wishing/needing to live in West 
Suffolk including those currently unable to afford to rent or buy a home 

in the open market. 

Q4 Is there any evidence or reason to believe 
that in relation to this proposal, there may 
be a difference in: 

 Levels of participation 

 Uptake by different groups 

 Needs or experiences of different 
groups 

 Priorities 

 Other areas? 

The Development Company will provide housing of different tenures 
and for different groups.  

Analysis of the Forest Heath DC’s and St Edmundsbury BC’s Housing 
Registers indicates that applicants with a disability are likely to have 

lower incomes than those without – (56% of applicants on the two 
Registers taken together report a gross annual income from all sources 

of below £10,000, compared with 50% of those without a disability). 
People with a disability will be assisted by provision of specialist housing 
for rent. 

Reported gross incomes vary by ethnic background. Taking £20,000 as 
perhaps the lower threshold for home ownership on a shared ownership 
basis indicates different levels of access between groups, with those on 

the lower income benefitting particularly from rented options: 

 Mixed background – 96% on Register with income below £20,000 
 Black background – 85% 

 Gypsy / traveller – 89% 

P
age 39



 

2 
 

 White British – 84%  

 White Irish – 82% 
 Asian background – 79% 
 White Other – 74% 

 Chinese / Other background – 70%.  

The affordable housing will help those on lower incomes. Certain other 
groups may also have lower incomes, including younger people, 

including young families and people with caring responsibilities. While 
these groups will have lower access to the market housing, with again 
affordable options benefitting them. 

Q5) Using the evidence listed above, fill in the 
table below to highlight the groups you think 
this policy or proposal has the potential to 

impact upon:  

(i) Is there any potential for 
negative impact? Yes or No 

(ii) Are there opportunities for 

positive impact or to promote 
equality of opportunity? 

Disabled people – potential for a positive impact as the aspiration will 
be to build homes to the lifetime homes standards. Furthermore, where 
a need is demonstrated, specialist housing such as bungalows will be 

developed. 

Older people – where a need is demonstrated, specialist housing such 
as bungalows will be developed. 

BME groups – people from BME groups are slightly over-represented on 

the Housing Registers of both Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury – 
24.0% and 12.2% on the registers respectively compared with making 
up 22.8% and 8.8% of the population (Census 2011). Increasing the 

supply of affordable housing will have a positive impact on providing 
housing for those in housing need and thus will have a positive impact 

on assisting people from BME backgrounds into suitable housing. 

Q6) Considering your answers to questions 1-5, 
do you believe a Full Equality Impact 
Assessment is needed? 

No, the proposal to build new homes in line with local needs and across 
a variety of tenures and price points will be beneficial to the widest 
range of local residents. No particular group will be disadvantaged by 

the proposed Housing Development Group. 

Q7) Considering our duty to proactively tackle 
disadvantage and promote equality of 
opportunity, list the actions required. 

Actions to maximise the positive impacts of the Housing 
Development Company 

 wherever viability allows provide the full quota of affordable 

P
age 40



 

3 
 

housing required by planning policy 

 unless it would incur such a high cost so as to render a particular 

scheme financially unviable build most/all homes to the Lifetime 
Homes Standards 

 prior to finalising the exact housing type and tenure mix on a 

particular site, establish the potential to provide specialist 
housing for older, disabled and/or other specialist housing needs 
groups 

 provide shared ownership homes to enable those on lower 

incomes to purchase 

 provide homes on sites across West Suffolk 

 maximise the potential for apprenticeship and training 
opportunities through the construction procurement process. 

  

P
age 41



 

4 
 

 Impacts Table 

 Is there 
potential for 

negative 
impact?  

YES or NO 

Are there 
opportunities 

for positive 
impact?  

YES or NO 

If YES, please provide details of the impact below 

Positive Impact Negative 
Impact 

All groups or society 
generally 

    

Age - Older or younger 
people 

No Yes 

Older – there is the potential to build 
bungalows and other specialist older 
persons accommodation. 

Younger – some homes developed will be 

for shared ownership purchase, 
affordable rent and market rent. Such 

homes will enable younger people, 
typically with lower incomes, to access 
quality housing. 

 

Disability - People with a 
disability 

No Yes 

There is the potential to build bungalows 
and other specialist accommodation. 

Unless it would incur such a high cost so 
as to render a particular scheme 

financially unviable build most/all homes 
will be built to Lifetime Homes 
Standards. 

 

Sex - Women or men  No No   

Pregnancy or maternity - 
including expectant or new 
parents i.e. pregnancy and 

maternity  

No Yes 

There will be homes built for shared 

ownership purchase and market rent. 
These homes in particular will enable 
expectant / new parents on lower 

 

P
age 42



 

5 
 

incomes to rent/buy a home with space 

to ‘grow into’. 

Marriage and civil 
partnership – including 
same sex couples 

No No   

Race - People who are 
black or from a minority 
ethnic background (BME) 

No Yes 

People from all backgrounds will benefit 
from development of new, energy 
efficient homes. Analysis of the Housing 
Register indicates that those other 

mixed, black of gypsy/traveller 
backgrounds have lower incomes than 

people of other backgrounds. These 
groups could in particular benefit from 
the provision of affordable homes. 

 

Religion - People with a 
religion or belief (or who 
choose not to have a 

religion or belief) 

No No   

Sexual Orientation - 
People who are lesbian, gay 
or bisexual (LGB) or in a 

Civil Partnership 

No No   

Gender Reassignment - 
People who are transitioning 
from one gender to another 

No No   

Families and those with 
parenting or caring 
responsibilities (The 
Families Test)  

No Yes 

There will be homes built for shared 
ownership purchase and market rent. 
These homes in particular will enable 

expectant / new parents on lower 
incomes to rent/buy a home with space 

 

P
age 43



 

6 
 

to ‘grow into’. 

Individuals on low income No Yes 
Affordable rented and shared ownership 
homes will be developed. 

 

Those suffering rural 
isolation 

No Yes 

There is the potential to build homes in 
rural areas thus enabling families  
and/carers to remaining in the same 
communities. 

 

Those who do not have 
English as a first language  

No No   

  

P
age 44



 

7 
 

 Action Plan 

Equality group/ 
characteristic  

Action/milestone Responsibility 
(Project manager 

or partner 
organisation) 

Achievement 
date 

Monitoring 
arrangements 

Disabled people On a site-by-site basis establish the 
need for / feasibility of providing homes 

to the Lifetime Homes Standard and/or 
specialist accommodation  

FHDC, SEBC and 
SCC 

Housing 
Development 
Company 

Varies for each site 
First site likely to 

be Wamil Court, 
Mildenhall; 
establish 

need/feasibility by 
December 2015 

Housing Development 
Company’s annual 

report will report on 
the number and type 
of homes developed / 

to be developed 

Older people On a site-by-site basis establish the 
need for / feasibility of providing 

bungalows and/or specialist 
accommodation 

FHDC, SEBC and 
SCC 

Housing 
Development 
Company 

Varies for each site 
First site likely to 

be Wamil Court, 
Mildenhall; 
establish 

need/feasibility by 
December 2015 

Housing Development 
Company’s annual 

report will report on 
the number and type 
of homes developed / 

to be developed 

BME groups On a site-by-site basis maximise the 
number of affordable homes within 

planning policy 

FHDC, SEBC and 
SCC 

Housing 
Development 

Company 

Varies for each site 
First site likely to 

be Wamil Court, 
Mildenhall; 

establish viability 
of affordable 
housing by 

September 2015 

Housing Development 
Company’s annual 

report will report on 
the number and type 

of homes developed / 
to be developed 

Younger people On a site-by-site basis maximise the 

number of affordable homes including 
shared ownership homes within 

planning policy 

FHDC, SEBC and 

SCC 
Housing 

Development 
Company 

Varies for each site 

First site likely to 
be Wamil Court, 

Mildenhall; 
establish viability 
of affordable 

Housing Development 

Company’s annual 
report will report on 

the number and type 
of homes developed / 
to be developed 

P
age 45



 

8 
 

housing by 

September 2015 

Pregnant women / 
families 

On a site-by-site basis maximise the 
number of market rented and shared 

ownership homes within planning policy 
as these will allow rent/purchase of 

home larger than the immediate need 

FHDC, SEBC and 
SCC 

Housing 
Development 

Company 

Varies for each site 
First site likely to 

be Wamil Court, 
Mildenhall; 

establish viability 
of market rented 
housing by 

September 2015 

Housing Development 
Company’s annual 

report will report on 
the number and type 

of homes developed / 
to be developed 

People on low 

incomes 

On a site-by-site basis maximise the 

number of affordable homes including 
shared ownership homes within 

planning policy 

FHDC, SEBC and 

SCC 
Housing 

Development 
Company 

Varies for each site 

First site likely to 
be Wamil Court, 

Mildenhall; 
establish viability 
of affordable 

housing by 
September 2015 

Housing Development 

Company’s annual 
report will report on 

the number and type 
of homes developed / 
to be developed 

Rural exclusion On an ongoing basis, identify sites in 
rural locations 

FHDC, SEBC and 
SCC 

Housing 
Development 
Company 

First annual plan to 
include potential 

sites and 
commitment to 
identify sites 

across West Suffolk 

Housing Development 
Company’s annual 

report will report on 
the number, type and 
location of homes 

developed / to be 
developed 

 

  

P
age 46



 

9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sign off section 

This Screening Level EqIA was completed by: 

Name   Jonathan Geall 

 

Job Title  Service Manager – Housing Development and Partnerships 

 

Signature  

 

Date   18 August 2015 

 

On completion, please submit this document with the policy 

or proposal. Guidance and advice on draft and final versions 

can be obtained from: 

Tanya Sturman, Corporate Policy Team 

01638 719473 

tanya.sturman@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

P
age 47

mailto:tanya.sturman@westsuffolk.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Business Case to Establish a Housing Development Company
	CAB.FH.15.048 Appendix A - Business Case for Establishing a Housing Development Company
	CAB.FH.15.048 Appendix E - Housing Development Company Equalities Impact Assessment

	6 Business Case to Establish a Housing Development Company - Exempt Appendices (para 3)
	CAB.FH.15.048 Appendix C - EXEMPT - First Ten Years Estimated Profit and Loss
	CAB.FH.15.048 Appendix D - EXEMPT - Estimated Company Expenditure in the First Year


